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IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA 
 

WYNN RESORTS LIMITED,
 
   Petitioners, 
 
vs. 
 
THE EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT 
COURT OF THE STATE OF 
NEVADA, IN AND FOR THE 
COUNTY OF CLARK; AND THE 
HONORABLE ELIZABETH 
GONZALEZ, DISTRICT JUDGE, 
DEPT. XI, 
 
   Respondent, 
 
and 
 
KAZUO OKADA, UNIVERSAL 
ENTERTAINMENT CORP., AND 
ARUZE USA, INC., 
 
  Real Parties in Interest. 

Case No. 
 
District Court Case No. A-12-656701-B 
 
 
 
 
 
APPENDIX IN SUPPORT  
OF WYNN RESORTS, LIMITED'S 
PETITION FOR WRIT OF 
MANDAMUS OR ALTERNATIVELY, 
PROHIBITION 
 
 
 
VOLUME I OF III 
 
 
 

 

DATED this 4th day of December, 2017. 
 

     PISANELLI BICE PLLC 
 
 
     By:   /s/ Todd L. Bice     
      James J. Pisanelli, Esq., Bar No. 4027 

 Todd L. Bice, Esq., Bar No. 4534 
 Debra L. Spinelli, Esq., Bar No. 9695 
 400 South 7th Street, Suite 300  
 Las Vegas, Nevada   89101 
 
Attorneys for Petitioner Wynn Resorts, Limited 

  

Electronically Filed
Dec 05 2017 09:12 a.m.
Elizabeth A. Brown
Clerk of Supreme Court

Docket 74591   Document 2017-41736
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CHRONOLOGICAL INDEX 

  

DOCUMENT DATE VOL. PAGE 

Wynn Parties' Motion for Summary Judgment 
on Stock Redemption (REDACTED) 

09/05/2017 I 001 – 020 

Appendix to Wynn Parties' Motion for 
Summary Judgment on Stock Redemption 
(REDACTED) 

09/05/2017 I 021 – 074 

Transcript of Hearings 10/09/2017 I 075 – 097 

Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law 11/30/2017 I 098 – 109 

Wynn Parties' Motion for Summary Judgment 
on Stock Redemption (UNDER SEAL) 

09/05/2017 II 110 – 129 

Appendix to Wynn Parties' Motion for 
Summary Judgment on Stock Redemption 
(UNDER SEAL) 

09/05/2017 II, III 130 - 383 

 
 

 
ALPHABETICAL INDEX 

 

    

DOCUMENT DATE VOL. PAGE 

Appendix to Wynn Parties' Motion for 
Summary Judgment on Stock Redemption 
(REDACTED) 

09/05/2017 I 021 - 074 

Appendix to Wynn Parties' Motion for 
Summary Judgment on Stock Redemption 
(UNDER SEAL) 

09/05/2017 II, III 130 – 383 

Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law 11/30/2017 I 075 – 097 

Transcript of Hearings 10/09/2017 I 075 – 097 

Wynn Parties' Motion for Summary Judgment 
on Stock Redemption (REDACTED) 

09/05/2017 I 001 – 020 

Wynn Parties' Motion for Summary Judgment 
on Stock Redemption (UNDER SEAL) 

09/05/2017 II 110 - 129 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I HEREBY CERTIFY that I am an employee of PISANELLI BICE PLLC, and that 

on this 4th day of December, 2017, I electronically filed and served by electronic 

mail and U.S. Mail true and correct copies of the above and foregoing APPENDIX 

IN SUPPORT OF WYNN RESORTS, LIMITED'S PETITION FOR WRIT OF 

MANDAMUS OR ALTERNATIVELY, PROHIBITION to the following: 
 
J. Stephen Peek, Esq. 
Bryce K. Kunimoto, Esq. 
Robert J. Cassity, Esq. 
HOLLAND & HART LLP 
9555 Hillwood Drive, Second Floor 
Las Vegas, NV  89134 
 
Attorneys for Kazuo Okada  
 
J. Randall Jones, Esq. 
Mark M. Jones, Esq. 
Ian P. McGinn, Esq. 
KEMP, JONES &  
COULTHARD, LLP 
3800 Howard Hughes Parkway 
17th Floor 
Las Vegas, NV  89169 
 
David S. Krakoff, Esq. 
Benjamin B. Klubes, Esq. 
Joseph J. Reilly, Esq. 
BUCKLEY SANDLER LLP 
1250 – 24th Street NW, Suite 700 
Washington, DC  20037 
 
Attorneys for Universal Entertainment 
Corp.; Aruze USA, Inc. 
 
Donald J. Campbell, Esq. 
J. Colby Williams, Esq. 
CAMPBELL & WILLIAMS 
700 South 7th Street 
Las Vegas, NV  89101 
 
Attorneys for Stephen Wynn 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

William R. Urga, Esq. 
JOLLEY URGA WOODBURY 
HOLTHUS & ROSE 
330 S. Rampart Blvd., Suite 380 
Las Vegas, NV  89145 
 
Mark E. Ferrario, Esq. 
Tami D. Cowden, Esq. 
GREENBERG TRAURIG, LLP 
3773 Howard Hughes Parkway, #400 
Las Vegas, NV 89169 
 
James M. Cole, Esq. 
SIDLEY AUSTIN LLP 
1501 K. Street N.W. 
Washington, DC  20005 
 
Scott D. Stein, Esq.  
SIDLEY AUSTIN, LLP 
One South Dearborn St. 
Chicago, Illinois 60603 
 
Daniel F. Polsenberg, Esq. 
Marla J. Hudgens, Esq. 
Joel D. Henriod, Esq. 
Abraham G. Smith, Esq. 
LEWIS ROCA ROTHGERBER 
CHRISTIE LLP 
3993 Howard Hughes Pkwy, Ste. 600 
Las Vegas, NV  89169 
Attorneys for Real Party in Interest 
Elaine Wynn 
 
Steve Morris, Esq. 
Rosa Solis-Rainey, Esq. 
MORRIS LAW GROUP 
411 E. Bonneville Avenue, Suite 360 
Las Vegas, NV  89101 
 
Attorneys for Defendants 
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SERVED VIA HAND-DELIVERY
The Honorable Elizabeth Gonzalez 
Eighth Judicial District court, Dept. XI 
Regional Justice Center 
200 Lewis Avenue 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89155 
 
Respondent 

 
       /s/ Kimberly Peets    
      An employee of PISANELLI BICE PLLC 
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AFFT 
James J. Pisanelli, Esq., Bar No. 4027 
JJP(cV,pisanellibicc.com 
Todd L. Bice, Esq., Bar No. 4534 
TLB@pisanellibice.co111 
Debra L. Spinelli, Esq., Bar No. 9695 
DLS@pisanellibice.com 
PISANELLI BICE PLLC 
3883 Howard Hughes Parkway, Suite 800 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89169 
Telephone: 702.214.2100 

Paul K. Rowe, Esq. (pro hac vice pending) 
pkrowel'@wlrk.co1n 
Bradley R. Wilson, Esq. (pro hac 11/ce pending) 
brwilson(@wlrk.con1 
Grant R. Mainland, Esq. (pro hac vice pending) 
gnnainland@wlrk.co1n 
WACHTELL, LIPTON, ROSEN & KATZ 
51 West 52nd Street 
New York, NY 10019 
Telephone: 212.403.1000 

Robert L. Shapiro, Esq. (pro hoc vice forthcoming} 
RS@glaserweil.com 
GLASER WEIL FINK JACOBS HOWARD 
A VCHEN & SHAPIRO, LLP 
10259 Constellation Boulevard, 19th Floor 
Los Angeles, CA 90067 
Telephone: 310.553.3000 

Electronically Filed 
09/20/2012 09:04:01 PM 

' 

~j.~,1t-
CLERK OF THE COURT 

Attorneys for Wynn Resorts, Liinited, Linda Chen, 
Russell Golds1nith, Ray R. Irani, Robe1t J. Miller, 
John A. Moran, Marc D. Schorr, Alvin V. Shoemaker, 
Kimmarie Sinatra, D. Boone Wayson and Allan Zeman 

DISTRICT COURT 

CLARK COUNTY, NEV ADA 

WYNN RESORTS, LIMITED, a Nevada 
Corporation, 

Plaintiff, 
vs. 

KAZUO OKADA, an individual, ARUZE 
USA, INC., a Nevada corporation, and 
UNIVERSAL ENTERTAINMENT CORP., 
a Japanese corporation, 

Defendants. 

Case No.: A-12-656710-B 

Dept. No.: XI 

AFFIDAVIT OF ROBERT J. MILLER 
IN SUPPORT OF WYNN PARTIES' 
OPPOSITION TO MOTION FOR 
PRELIMINARY INJUNCTION 

Date of Hearing: October 2, 2012 

Tilne of Hearing: 8:30 a.in. 
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STA TE OF NEV ADA 

COUNTY OF CLARK 
ss: 

ROBERT J. MILLER, being duly sworn, deposes and says: 

I. I a1n a resident of Clark County, Nevada and a director of Wynn Resorts, Lin1ited 

("Wynn Resorts''), Chairman of the Compliance Comn1ittee of Wynn Resorts, and Chainnan of 

the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee of the board. I also serve as presiding 

director for executive sessions of the independent men1bers of the Wynn Resorts board. From 

1989 to 1999, I served as Governor of the State of Nevada. 

2. I 1nake this affidavit in opposition to the motion by Aruze USA, Inc. ("Aruze") and 

Universal Entertainment Corp. ("Universal") for a preliminary injunction. I have personal 

knowledge of the facts set forth herein unless otherwise so stated and could, if called to testify as 

a witness, testify competently to thetn. 

The Wynn Resorts board 

3. Wynn Resorts has a twelve-111e1nber board of directors. Excluding Kazuo Okada, 

eight of Wynn Resorts' eleven directors have no employment relationship with the Company 

(myself, Russell Golds1nith, Ray R. Irani, John A. Moran, Alvin V. Shoemaker, D. Boone 

Wayson, Elaine P. Wynn, and Allan Ze1nan). Stephen A. Wynn, Chainnan and Chief Executive 

Officer of Wynn Resorts, Linda Chen, President of Wynn International Marketing, Limited and 

Chief Operating Officer of Wynn Resorts (Macau), S.A., and Marc D. Schorr, Chief Operating 

Officer of Wym1 Resorts, are the only members of Wynn Resorts' management on the board. 

The Compliance Committee 

4. In 2002, the Co1npany adopted a "Cotnpliance Progra1n," which has been 

periodically reviewed and amended. The Compliance Program states that it is designed to 

mitigate the "dangers of unsuitable associations and compliance with regulatory requirements." It 

describes the duties of the Compliance Com1nittee and provides that the Committee has an 

affirmative obligation to investigate all senior executives, directors, and key employees "in order 

to protect the Co1npany fro1n beco1ning associated with an Unsuitable Person." Under the 

prograin, the term "Unsuitable Person" refers to anyone "that the Company determines is 
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unqualified as a business associate of the Co1npany or its Affiliates based on, without limitation, 

that Person's antecedents, associations, financial practices, financial condition, or business 

probity." 

5. The Co1npliance Program also requires the Cotnpany to report to Nevada gaining 

authorities to keep them "advised of the Company's compliance efforts in Nevada and other 

jurisdictions." Specifically, the Company has an obligation to self-repo1t- that is, to infonn the 

gaming regulators of significant compliance-related issues. 

Historv of compliance concerns related to Mr. Okada 

6. As Chainnan of the Compliance Committee, I have reviewed certain investigative 

repo1ts, and from these, 1 have learned the following facts. Mr. Okada began developing a large 

casino reso1t in the Philippines some time in 2007 or 2008. Wynn Resorts was not a partner or 

participant in the project, and Mr. Okada attempted to persuade Wynn Reso11s to participate in the 

project in so1ne way . 

7. In the summer of 2010, a senior executive of Wynn Resorts prepared a report on 

the business climate in the Philippines that caused the Co1npliance Committee to become 

increasingly concerned about Mr. Okada's business involvement in that country. Thereafter, in 

early 2011, management retained an independent third-patty firm to do preliminary investigative 

work concerning the Philippines and Mr. Okada's activities there. 

8. The \Vynn Resorts board discussed the results of that preliminary investigation at a 

board meeting on February 24, 2011. Mr. Okada was present at the meeting. At that time, 

Mr. Wynn advised the board that Mr. Okada had arranged a 1neeting for him with Philippine 

President Aquino. Based on the info11nation the board had received about endemic corruption in 

the Philippines, the independent directors unanimously advised management that any involvement 

in the Philippines was inadvisable, and the board strongly recommended that Mr. Wynn cancel 

the meeting with President Aquino. Management agreed with the board's recommendation. At 

this board n1eeting, Mr. Okada was clearly 1nade aware that the board was greatly conce1ned 

about any direct or indirect Wynn Reso11s involvement in the Philippines. 

3 
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9. Also at the February 24, 2011 board 1neeting, Kin1 Sinatra, Wynn Resorts' General 

Counsel, updated the board on Foreign Conupt Practices Act ("FCPA") matters, particularly with 

respect to Wynn Resorts' program of director compliance and education. Such updates were and 

are part of the Compliance Committee's efforts, as part of the overall Compliance Program, to 

insure that Wynn Resorts does not risk cmnpliance problems that could affect its present and 

future licensing status, which in turn is critical to the Company's business and its prospects for the 

future. 

10. In the course of this meeting, Mr. Okada 1nade the surprising and disturbing 

co1n1nent that, in his view, 1naking gifts to govem1nent officials was a recognized and accepted 

way of doing business in parts of Asia, and that it \Vas all a question of using third parties. 

Needless to say, this comn1ent raised concerns for me and others about Mr. Okada's ability and 

willingness to co1nply with Wynn Reso11s' co1npliance policies and with anti-conuption statutes 

such as the FCPA. 

11. The Wynn Resorts board again discussed Mr. Okada's business activities in the 

Philippines at a board meeting held on July 28, 2011. Mr. Okada confinned to the board that he 

was proceeding with the Philippines project. In the course of the meeting, certain of the 

Company's independent directors, including me, expressed concern with regard to probity issues 

related to Mr. Okada and the possible effect that Mr. Okada's involvement in the Philippines 

would have on Wynn Resorts. Following that board ineeting, in August 2011, the Company 

received additional inforination fro1n a separate independent investigatory firm that raised further 

questions about the business climate in the Philippines and Mr. Okada's activities there. 

12. At a 1neeting held on Septe1nber 27, 2011, the Co1npliance Co1n1nittee reviewed 

the results of a third-party investigative report that had been conducted at the Co1npany's request 

and that addressed the current political environ1nent in the Philippines and the issues related to 

Mr. Okada's project there. Three days later, at the direction of the Co1nmittee, representatives of 

the Company 1net \Vith Mr. Okada's lawyers to discuss the Com1nittee's concerns with regard to 

Mr. Okada's involve1nent in the Philippines project. These concerns included, among other 

4 

053



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 
0 
0 11 00 

t:: 
&a- 12 

:l ·"' >-~ 

..I<~ 13 Q.,.~ 

w~~ u e>: 
-< 14 i:x:l ii. > 

:J~:Z 
113 (j ~t 15 :z ::i 0 < ::c: UJ 
rJ'l c :> 16 ,_."' rn P-<<..: 

~....i 
17 ::t: 

r") 
00 
00 18 r") 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

things, whether Mr. Okada had violated Philippine law in acquiring the land for his project. I was 

info1med that the discussion at this n1eeting with Mr. Okada's representatives was unproductive. 

13. On October 31, 2011, Mr. Okada failed to attend a long-scheduled training session 

for board 1nembers concerning the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act. Every other Wynn Reso1ts 

director attended, either in person or by telephone. Management informed the directors that 

Mr. Okada had RSVP'd for the training session in mid-September, and later asked the Co1npany 

to translate the training materials into Japanese, which they did. But in the end, Mr. Okada did 

not participate. 

The Freeh investigation 

14. On October 29, 2011, the Con1pliance Com1nittee detennined to retain Freeh 

Sporkin & Sullivan, LLP, and specifically Louis Freeh. Mr. Freeh is the fonner director of the 

FBI and a former federal judge. We believed his experience and reputation were the finest in the 

field, and that his firm had the resources to pursue the somewhat difficult task of investigating 

matters arising out of Mr. Okada's conduct in Asia. That decision was based on the concerns 

raised by and the inforn1ation gathered in the preliminary investigations that had been conducted 

by firms retained by the Company, and on Mr. Okada's troubling comments about FCPA 

compliance. 

15. The Wynn Resorts board met on November 1, 2011. Mr. Okada was told at this 

meeting that the Compliance Co1n1nittee intended to retain Mr. Freeh to do an in-depth 

investigation of his activities, and Mr. Okada attempted to persuade us not to engage Mr. Freeh. 

At this 1neeting, Mr. Wynn explained to Mr. Okada that Mr. Okada would be breaching his 

fiduciary duties as a director of Wynn Resorts if Mr. Okada - as it appeared he was planning -

used infonnation he obtained as a Wynn Resorts director concerning the Con1pany's 1narketing to 

Asian customers to siphon off to the Philippines profitable business fron1 Wynn Resorts' existing 

and planned Macau properties. Mr. Okada strongly disagreed. 

16. Also at the Nove1nber 1, 2011 board meeting, the Wynn Resorts board ratified the 

Compliance Co1nmittee's decision to hire Mr. Freeh and the Comtnittee fo1mally retained 
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Mr. Freeh to conduct an investigation and produce a report related to Mr. Okada and his business 

activities in the Philippines. 

17. Over a three-1nonth period, Mr. Freeh and/or his colleagues made several trips to 

the Philippines and Macau; conducted nu1nerous interviews; and engaged in detailed documentary 

research of public records. By early 2012, Mr. Freeh and his team had uncovered detailed prima 

facie evidence of serious wrongdoing by Mr. Okada and his associates. 

18. In early 2012, I received a preli1ninary briefing from Mr. Freeh indicating that his 

investigation had revealed seiious issues concerning the legality, under Philippine law, of 

Mr. Okada's purchase and title to the land on which his new casino project was to be built. 

Moreover, Mr. Freeh had found evidence fro1n records maintained by Wynn Macau, and from 

interviews of Wynn Macau personnel, that Aruze provided gifts of value at Wynn Macau to 

senior officials of PAGCOR (including its Chairman, Mr. Cristino Naguiat), and that Mr. Okada 

was aware of this. (PAGCOR is a Philippine governn1ental agency that is both the regulator and 

operator of gaming in that country.) Mr. Freeh also uncovered evidence that Mr. Okada's 

associates had requested anonymity for a VIP guest they did not wish to be registered. This 

individual was later determined to be Chairman Naguiat of PAGCOR. 

19. As Chairman of the Compliance Com1nittee, I decided that before Mr. Freeh 

concluded his investigation and produced his report, Mr. Okada should be offered the opportunity 

to submit exculpatory evidence. For several weeks, Mr. Okada would not commit to a date for an 

interview with Mr. Freeh. Finally, Mr. Okada agreed to let Mr. Freeh interview him, in Tokyo, 

on February 15, 2012. l was informed that one or 1nore of Mr. Okada's atto111eys from the Paul 

Hastings fitm were present at the interview. 

20. As is reflected in the 47-page "Freeh Report" that was presented to the Compliance 

Con1mittee and the Wynn Resorts board on February 18, 2012, Mr. Freeh concluded that 

Mr. Okada had not presented any persuasive evidence whatsoever to rebut what Mr. Freeh had 

found, and that while Mr. Okada had offered broad denials of involvement in any of the 

1nisconduct, the evidence uncovered in Mr. Freeh's investigation cast substantial doubt on 

Mr. Okada's credibility. The Freeh Report is attached hereto as Exhibit 1. 
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The February 18, 2012 board meeting and the redemption of Aruze's shares 

21. The first po1tion of the Wynn Resorts board 1neeting on February 18, 2012 was 

devoted to a consideration of the response to the Cou1t's order in the books-and-records case 

brought by Mr. Okada. Mr. Okada then joined the n1eeting by telephone. In response to a 

question regarding whether Mr. Okada had joined the meeting alone, an attorney from 

Mr. Okada's U.S. law fitm responded that he was in the roo1n with Mr. Okada, along \vith a 

colleague and certain Universal executives. Mr. Okada was retninded that Company policy 

provided that board members attend meetings without personal lawyers. Thereafter, Mr. Okada's 

counsel advised that everyone would leave the room except for Mr. Okada and his translator. 

Following confinnation from Mr. Okada's translator that all other persons had departed, the 

1neeting continued. As the focus of the n1eeting turned to the Freeh Report, the 111eeting was 

inte1rupted constantly by issues relating to translation. The question was asked of Mr. Okada's 

translator whether he was a licensed translator, and he replied that he ·was, in fact, not a 

professional translator, but a Japanese attorney for r'-.1r. Okada. That person was asked to leave 

the meeting. Subsequently, the meeting proceeded with Mr. Okada having the discussioi1 at the 

1neeting translated for hiln by a professional translator provided by the Company. 

22. Mr. Freeh provided the board (including Mr. Okada) with a detailed summary of 

his investigation and his findings. The Chairn1an then declared that there would be a two-hour 

recess to allow the board n1e1nbers who had executed a confidentiality agree1nent to read the 

Freeh Report - that is, all me1nbers other than Mr. Okada, who refused to execute the agreement, 

which had been translated into Japanese - following which the meeting would resume with a 

discussion of the Freeh Repott. Prior to taking the recess, the Chairman inquired of Mr. Okada 

\vhether he had any questions or con1ments. Mr. Okada did not respond. Thereafter, the decision 

was 1nade that Mr. Okada would not be re-connected to the portion of the meeting that would 

involve a discussion of the Freeh Repo11. 

7 

056



0 
0 
00 
~ 

t: 
::l 
C/.I °' (.) .'D 

l >:;: 
:::l < 00 
!>. ~ 

UJ~~ ~< 
t:QC.. > 
....-4 (/} :JJ 

..J == :z t-l- "' 
~ 0"' :::.< 
<~g 
C/.I ~> 
- ti) c.. < 

~..J 
:t 
M co 
00 

"' 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

23. When the board meeting reconvened, there was a general discussion of the Freeh 

Report and its i111plications for Wynn Reso11s and its shareholders. The board then received 

advice from two attorneys from separate lavv' finns, each of whom is expert in gaming law, and 

asked questions of them. There was a consensus among the me111bers of the board that Aruze's 

status as a substantial shareholder of the Company jeopardized the gaining licenses held by 

Wynn Resorts and could jeopardize future efforts by Wynn Resorts to become licensed in other 

jurisdictions. 

24. After further extensive discussion, the directors present voted unanimously to 

declare Mr. Okada, Aruze, and Universal "Unsuitable Persons" within the meaning and according 

to the criteria specified in Article VII of the Wynn Resorts A1iicles of Incorporation. (The 

Articles are attached as Exhibit 2 to this affidavit.) In connection \Vith this detennination, the 

board received advice from the gaining law experts present at the n1eeting, including on the topics 

of the likely response of Nevada gaining regulators to a lack of action by the board, to a delay in 

action by the board, and related matters. 

25. The board then considered the a1nount at which to value the Aruze shares within 

the meaning of Article VII, and whether to redeen1 the Aruze shares with cash or with a 

promissory note having the terms specified in Article Vil. In connection with these questions, the 

board received infonnation and advice from the independent investn1ent banking finn of 

Moelis & Company, from DutT & Phelps, and fro1n the Con1pany's chief financial officer. 

26. In determining the "fair value" of the securities to be redeemed, the board first 

considered what would be the fair value of unrestricted shares of Wynn Resorts and determined 

that it would be the then current NASDAQ market price. The board then considered the transfer 

restrictions applicable to Aruze's shares under the stockholders agreement an1ong Aruze, 

Mr. Wynn, and Ms. Wynn, as well as the size of Aruze's block, and determined that it would be 

appropriate to apply a discount to the then current NASDAQ 111arket price to account for these 

restrictions. ln detennining what discount to apply, the board was guidi;:d by the view of 

Moelis & Co1npany that the transfer restrictions on Aruzc's shares (restrictions that would travel 

with the shares to any potential buyer) were as restrictive as any other restrictions it had identified 
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in respect of the shares of a U.S. public c01npany. In addition, the board was guided by the advice 

of Moelis & Co1npany that the size of Aruze's block would inake it more difficult to sell. Based 

on this information, and following further discussion, the board determined to apply a 

30% discount to the then current NASDAQ 1narket price of Wynn Resorts shares in calculating 

the fair value of Aruze's shares. 

27. The board then considered whether to pay cash or to issue a protnissory note to 

Aruze to effect the redemption. In consideration of the potential negative effects on the 

Company's balance sheet and the borrowing costs associated with a cash pay1nent, as well as the 

related negative impact on the Company's public shareholders, the board determined to issue to 

Aruze a promissory note on the terms set forth in the Articles of Incorporation. That pro1nissory 

note is attached as Exhibit 3 to this affidavit. In connection with the decision to pay by note 

rather than by cash, the board received advice from outside expert gaming counsel, and it 

considered the potential views of the Nevada gan1ing authorities. 

28. The board instructed 1nanagement to advise Aruze of the redemption of its shares 

and the board's decision to issue tq it a promissory note in exchange. That redemption notice is 

attached as Exhibit 4 to this affidavit. 

29. On February 18, 2012, Wynn Resorts gave notice to the Nevada State Gaming 

Control Board that the board had found Mr. Okada, Aruze, and Universal to be "Unsuitable 

Persons" and redeemed Aruze's shares pursuant to A11icle VII in exchange for a pron1issory note. 

To n1y knowledge, the Gaming Control Board has expressed no concern with respect to the 

board's unsuitability determination, the redemption of Aruze's shares, or the board's decision to 

issue a pron1issory note to Aruze. 

30. I understand that, in this motion, Aruze is making two main argu1nents - first, 

that Aruze's shares are not subject to the redemption provisions that the board invoked because 

Article Vil has never applied to the1n; and, second, that the reden1ption was a "sha1n" 1neant to 

advance a plan by Steve Wynn to increase control over Wynn Resorts, and that the board has 
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DECLARATION OF KIMMARIE SINATRA, ESQ. IN SUPPORT OF WYNN PARTIES' 
MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT ON STOCK REDEMPTION  

 
 

 I, Kimmarie Sinatra, Esq., declare as follows: 

1. I am over 18 years of age and am competent to testify as to the matters set forth in 

this Declaration based upon my own personal knowledge, except as to those matters stated on 

information and belief, which I believe to be true. 

2. I am a resident of Clark County, Nevada and I am the Executive Vice President, 

General Counsel, and Secretary for Wynn Resorts, Limited ("Wynn Resorts" or the "Company"). 

3. I make this Declaration in support of Wynn Parties' Motion for Summary 

Judgment on Stock Redemption (the "Motion").   

4. Exhibit 1 to the Motion is a true and correct copy of the Second Amended and 

Restated Articles of Incorporation of Wynn Resorts, Limited.  

5. Exhibit 2 to the Motion is a true and correct copy of the Minutes of a Special 

Meeting of the Board of Directors of Wynn Resorts, Limited held on February 18, 2012.  

6. Exhibit 3 to the Motion is a true and correct copy of the Redemption Price 

Promissory Note. 

I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of Nevada that the foregoing 

is true and correct. 

Executed this 2nd day of September, 2017, in Hong Kong Special Administrative Region 

of the People's Republic of China. 

 /s/ Kimmarie Sinatra     
KIMMARIE SINATRA, ESQ. 
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1 LAS VEGAS, NEVADA, MONDAY, OCTOBER 9, 2017, 8:02 A.M.

2 (Court was called to order)

3 THE COURT:  Good morning.  Can we start with the

4 motion to strike.

5 Mr. Williams.

6 MR. WILLIAMS:  This is the sanctions one; right,

7 Your Honor?

8 THE COURT:  Sure.

9 MR. WILLIAMS:  I don't know that I talk about motion

10 to strike, so I want to make sure I'm up here on the right

11 thing.

12 THE COURT:  Yes, you're right --

13 MR. WILLIAMS:  Okay.

14 THE COURT:  -- Steve Wynn-Elaine Wynn probate estate

15 planning family issues.  Those issues.

16 MR. WILLIAMS:  Yes, Your Honor.  Judge, we've got a

17 big motion that is being heard.  I don't -- unless the Court

18 has questions, I'd rather just save my time responding to

19 whoever's going to argue for Ms. Wynn.

20 THE COURT:  I don't have any questions.  Thank you.

21 Who's up?

22 MR. COLE:  I am, Your Honor, as well.  I think this

23 is fairly thoroughly briefed.  I think the law is very clear

24 they have to be utterly without support for a Rule 11

25 sanction.  I think there is more than adequate support,

3
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1 particularly for these counts.  The allegation, I think Your

2 Honor kind of hit the nail on the head.  This is kind of a

3 motion to strike, motion for summary judgment.  I'm not sure

4 what it is.  But it's not a Rule 11.  And that's all they've

5 alleged.

6 So I would urge the Court -- unless you have

7 questions I'm happy to answer, I would submit on the briefs

8 that this is clearly not worthy of Rule 11 sanction.

9 THE COURT:  Thank you.

10 MR. COLE:  Thank you.

11 THE COURT:  The request for Rule 11 sanctions is

12 denied.

13 However, the Court is granting the alternative

14 relief of striking the factual allegations and those that are

15 related to particular claims of relief for this very limited

16 issue of the family estate planning.

17 MR. WILLIAMS:  Thank you, Your Honor.

18 THE COURT:  Okay.  So that takes me to motion for

19 summary judgment on business judgment.

20 MR. COLE:  Your Honor, could I just ask one question

21 for clarification?

22 THE COURT:  Yep.

23 MR. COLE:  Does that include the failure to join

24 litigation of family estate planning?  Because that's --

25 THE COURT:  It does.
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1 MR. BICE:  Good morning, Your Honor.  This is our

2 motion for summary judgment, the Wynn parties' motion for

3 summary judgment on the Nevada business judgment rule, Your

4 Honor, concerning the redemption of the shares formerly held

5 by the Okada parties.

6 Because the redemption, Your Honor, is the central

7 issue in the case, it essentially encompasses most all of the

8 claims between the Wynn Resorts and its directors and the

9 Okada parties.  Your Honor, the Okada parties essentially

10 oppose this motion with their lengthy opposition centered all

11 around the argument that arguing for any standard but the

12 business judgment rule to apply, and we don't really fault

13 them for that.  It's legally wrong, but one can understand why

14 they're doing that, because they know that they cannot get

15 over the presumption of the business judgment rule.  And under

16 the law if the business judgment rule applies and the

17 presumption applies, summary judgment necessarily follows from

18 it.

19 So let me just sort of go through the hit list sort

20 of in the sequence in which they present them of their various

21 arguments for getting around it.  One, Your Honor, is their

22 lead argument is that a motion for summary judgment filed

23 nearly six years into the case is somehow premature.  I don't

24 think that that's a serious argument, and I don't think that

25 any of the discovery that they are proposing to the Court has

5
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1 anything to do with the application of the business judgment

2 rule, and they don't tell you how that it does.  And so I'm

3 not going to waste my time addressing a claim of prematurity

4 of a case that is even past the five year rule.

5 Nonetheless, Your Honor, they then propose a bunch

6 of different arguments to try and evade the rule's

7 application, the first being that because they allege a breach

8 of contract, the articles of incorporation being the contract,

9 that somehow evades the business judgment rule and implements

10 some sort of a reasonableness standard.  I don't have to

11 remind the Court that is the exact argument that is the exact

12 argument that they made in opposition to the writ petition

13 that resulted in the Supreme Court's business judgment ruling,

14 and it's the exact argument and it's the exact same cases that

15 they made in their petition for rehearing seeking to set aside

16 the business judgment rule ruling from the Supreme Court, and

17 those have all been rejected and have been rejected for good

18 reason.  We cite in our reply brief all of the cases that

19 point out why when you're dealing with the founding documents

20 of a corporation, be it the articles, be it the bylaws,

21 whatever, the discretionary actions that are undertaken by the

22 board of directors pursuant to those documents even

23 characterizing them as contract are still governed by the

24 business judgment rule.  The articles are a contract not only

25 between the company and the entity -- or the entity and its
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1 shareholders, but the entity and the State, as well.

2 And that takes me into their second sort of fallback

3 argument.  They contend that -- and I think this one's very

4 telling.  They contend that the Aruze shares are miraculously

5 not subject to the articles of incorporation.  We'd actually

6 internally debated whether we should just accept that

7 representation from them and hold them to it.  Because if that

8 was the case, then the shares are invalid and they have

9 received hundreds of millions of dollars in dividends since

10 2002 when those shares were issued that they owe back to the

11 company.  In fact, we are owed money if that story held any

12 water.  And, of course, under the law it doesn't hold any

13 water.  The articles are the company's foundation.  They are

14 its founding constitute.  Without the binding articles there

15 is no legal entity and there are no valid shares.  And those

16 shares, each of the Aruze share certificates, are emblazoned

17 with the notice "These shares are subject to the redemption

18 provisions of the articles of incorporation."  So to make that

19 argument I think, Your Honor, is very, very telling.  It's

20 essentially another confession that they cannot evade the

21 business judgment rule.

22 Then their sort of last fallback argument to get

23 around the business judgment rule is they ask you to

24 essentially disregard the Supreme Court and simply adopt a

25 different standard, one of entire fairness or one of what they
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1 characterize as compelling justification.  Neither of those

2 standards applies, neither of them can be reconciled with the

3 decision from the Supreme Court, and neither of those can be

4 reconciled with NRS 78.138.  And in fact, as we point out in

5 our reply brief, Your Honor, the Delaware courts from which

6 they derive those don't even apply them outside of the unique

7 circumstances of hostile takeover contests, none of which are

8 here.

9 So that then takes us really to meat of our motion,

10 not the meat of their opposition, but the meat of our motion,

11 which is that the business judgment rule applies.  And again

12 they offer all of these various alternatives for obvious

13 reasons.  Because of the presumption, they cannot overcome it.

14 Your Honor, there are really two aspects of the

15 decision from the Supreme Court that apply here or that are

16 implicated here by their opposition.  They say that, well,

17 they can overcome the presumption by claiming that the

18 decision is the product of self dealing or they can overcome

19 it by saying that the decision is the product of a failure to

20 exercise due care in reaching the decision.  Here's why

21 neither one of those stories works and why they present no

22 evidence sufficient to overcome the presumption on either one

23 of them.

24 On the issue of self dealing, Your Honor, they

25 actually don't present any evidence whatsoever.  Their theory
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1 is the -- they just use the conclusory statement that, well,

2 all of the -- or, I'm sorry, all of the directors are somehow

3 beholden to Steve Wynn and so therefore they're all self

4 interested.  Well, that isn't the law.  The law is that in

5 order to be self interested one must stand on both sides of

6 the transaction or receive a personal financial benefit that

7 is unique to you other than by and through your stock

8 ownership.

9 Let's look at what they claim about Mr. Wynn,

10 because their only theory is that Mr. Wynn I guess was somehow

11 self interested in this.  Mr. Wynn's self interest, Your

12 Honor, consisted of voting for a redemption that actually had

13 the effect of harming his voting power.  As they point out --

14 or, I'm sorry, as we point out in our reply brief, Your Honor,

15 Mr. Wynn voting for the redemption had the effect of reducing

16 his voting power from about 35 percent of all outstanding

17 shares to about 19 percent.  And if you were to buy the Elaine

18 Wynn argument, Ms. Wynn argues that voting for the redemption

19 actually completely did away with the shareholders agreement,

20 then Mr. Wynn's voting power went down even further, down to

21 around 10 percent.  With all due respect to the Okada parties,

22 voting against one's self interest is not a vote of self

23 interest.  And they offer no evidence whatsoever that Mr. Wynn

24 received any benefit from this redemption other than the stock

25 benefit that inures pro rata to every other shareholder.
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1 Then, Your Honor, we turn to -- but let's pretend

2 for a minute.  Let's pretend that there was merit to what they

3 were contending that somehow this is a case involving a demand

4 that the corporation sue Mr. Wynn, which is how they are

5 judging this thing.  And through that, Your Honor, they

6 claim --

7 How many minutes?

8 THE COURT:  You've got 3 minutes left.

9 MR. BICE:  All right.  Through that, Your Honor,

10 they claim that everyone is beholden to him.  We've laid out

11 in the opposition the facts from which the Court can adjudge

12 this.  There is no evidence on a summary judgment standard,

13 let alone a 12(b) standard, that somehow these directors are

14 beholden to Mr. Wynn.  Thank you, Your Honor.

15 THE COURT:  Thank you.

16 Good morning.

17 MR. KRAKOFF:  Good morning, Your Honor.

18 THE COURT:  Can you start with the issue for me of

19 what information that would defeat this summary judgment

20 motion you believe that the discovery you've outlined on

21 pages 14 and 15 of your brief would elicit.

22 MR. KRAKOFF:  Well, Your Honor, I would say that we

23 have witnesses, Your Honor, whose testimony goes to disputed

24 facts.  They go to disputed facts regarding the directors'

25 lack of independence, whether the directors had an interest in
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1 the redemption decision, whether the directors acted in good

2 faith.  Each of these witnesses, Your Honor, Ms. Wynn, for

3 instance, Governor Miller, while we've already taken his

4 deposition once, we have more to do, we have more documents. 

5 The Brownstein Hyatt represents are the same.  And I would

6 also say, Your Honor, beyond that, and I think this is very

7 important, we have an extensive amount of discovery that has

8 not yet been done.  We're a month from the end of fact

9 discovery, we haven't begun the expert discovery, we have not

10 received decisions from the Supreme Court on Wynn's writs on

11 preredemption Freeh documents, on the accountants' documents

12 that go directly to our pretext claim that would certainly

13 result in at a minimum in whether or not in additional

14 depositions.  We also, Your Honor, have not received

15 substantial document discovery, for instance, the Macau

16 documents which the Wynn parties have withheld repeatedly,

17 defying Court orders.  And they can't now stand here and say

18 to the Court or argue to the Court that there is no issue of

19 material fact when they're withholding documents that go to

20 our pretext theory.

21 So there's a lot that's still needs to be done. 

22 That's our position, Your Honor, respectfully, and we submit

23 that there is -- this motion is premature.

24 THE COURT:  So let's get away from pretext for a

25 second --
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1 MR. KRAKOFF:  Yeah.

2 THE COURT:  -- because the business judgment rule

3 only applies to board members to protect from individual

4 liability against the corporation and other shareholders.  We

5 all know that, although it gets lost in this motion.

6 So understanding that issue, your only arguable

7 discovery process could be the issue about independence and

8 interestedness.  Are you telling me that after six years you

9 haven't got any information about independence and

10 interestedness and you're going to develop it all in the next

11 month?

12 MR. KRAKOFF:  Of course I'm not saying that, Your

13 Honor.

14 THE COURT:  okay.

15 MR. KRAKOFF:  I mean, that would be -- you know, I'm

16 not going to stand here and argue that.  But I am saying that

17 there is -- that the Court has established a fair and orderly

18 schedule for -- to determine summary judgment.  We have a

19 schedule that is in place.  We suggest to the Court that the

20 Court should adhere to the orderly schedule it has and

21 complete all of the discovery.  This is a five-year lawsuit

22 already, Your Honor, and we think that it is -- it makes most

23 sense to finish discovery and then come back with all of the

24 evidence and the -- which we will develop both from witnesses

25 and documents and from experts.  It will go to issues on
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1 summary judgment.

2 THE COURT:  Okay.  Anything else you want to tell me

3 related to your motion?

4 MR. KRAKOFF:  Yes.  I mean, Your Honor, I'm not

5 going to belabor our papers, because the Court has obviously

6 reviewed them carefully.  But I would say this in particular. 

7 Wynn's only real argument, Your Honor, is that the Supreme

8 Court has already decided that the business judgment rule

9 applies to the entire case, that's it, and protects any of the

10 board's actions against the defendants.  But, Your Honor,

11 that's really not true, because the Supreme Court decided only

12 that the board invokes -- that when a board invokes the

13 business judgment rule it doesn't waive the attorney-client

14 privilege.

15 So we submit that the Wynn parties are not entitled

16 to summary judgment for three reasons.  You read them in our

17 briefs, but I'll highlight in particular the first one.  The

18 business judgment rule does not apply to contract claims. 

19 Just doesn't, flat out.  Despite Wynn's attempt to distort the

20 Supreme Court's holding, the court did not say that the

21 business judgment rule supplants ordinary contract law.  The

22 Supreme Court did not address contract law at all, and it

23 certainly never ruled that the business judgment rule applies

24 to our breach of contract claims.  Nor did the Supreme Court

25 overrule the Schoen decision that the Court must first address
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1 our claim that the redemption was a pretext for getting rid of

2 Mr. Okada before getting to the business judgment rule

3 analysis for the breach of fiduciary duty claims.

4 And the fact is, Your Honor, that neither Wynn's

5 briefs nor Mr. Bice today even attempted to defend against the

6 defendants' claims that the board breached the articles of

7 incorporation which, as they said again, is the constitution. 

8 It is the contract with all of the shareholders, including the

9 Aruze parties.  Indeed, Wynn did not even attempt to address

10 literally dozens of facts detailed in our opposition and in

11 our counterstatement on how the redemption violated the

12 contract law and the board's duties of due care and good

13 faith.  Because the board's decision was so far outside the

14 bounds of reasonable -- of a reasonable exercise of

15 discretion.  Here's just a few examples, Your Honor.

16 First, the actions of Wynn's management made clear

17 they had decided to get rid of Mr. Okada before they hired Mr.

18 Freeh.

19 Second, the compliance committee hired Mr. Freeh to

20 do an independent investigation, but it wasn't even close to

21 independent, it was a total sham from the start with his

22 irreconcilable conflict, as we detailed in our papers.  Nor

23 was Mr. Freeh's investigative process independent at all, as

24 Mr. Schall himself testified at the sanctions proceeding when

25 he said that Mr. Freeh, quote, "was looking for information
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1 that was inculpatory."

2 Third, Mr. Freeh's conclusions were reached even

3 before he heard from Mr. Okada.

4 Fourth, the board totally denied Mr. Okada any

5 semblance of due process whatsoever to respond to any

6 allegations, and even at the board meeting it was clear, Your

7 Honor, that the facts demonstrate that the board intended to

8 keep Mr. Okada in the dark and ambush him so he couldn't

9 defend himself, because the board had already made up its

10 mind.  That's not good faith, that's not due care.

11 So the facts are clear, we submit, that the board

12 violated its contract with Aruze on the redemption, and at a

13 minimum there are material facts in dispute.

14 I don't know how much time I have left, Your Honor. 

15 I want to be mindful.

16 THE COURT:  Not much.

17 THE LAW CLERK:  Two minutes.

18 MR. KRAKOFF:  On the valuation we presented numerous

19 material facts, also, on how the board's shares were worth --

20 how the board's decision that the board's share were worth

21 only $1.94 billion was also a breach of contract.  But, again,

22 they don't even address this.  Rather, they just ignored the

23 facts in dispute.

24 And here's just a few items, Your Honor.  The

25 board's 30 percent discount was per se unreasonable because
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1 when you look at what -- particularly when you look at what

2 the board considered and what it didn't consider.  They were

3 intent -- they were obligated by the terms of their -- of the

4 resolution of the board to pay $1.94 billion, which they

5 didn't do.  Not even close.

6 So, again, Your Honor, there is substantial evidence

7 of the board's breach of its contract with Aruze on the

8 valuation of the note, which Wynn doesn't even address.

9 The second reason, Your Honor, and I'll just say

10 this briefly, because I know I'm sort on time, is that Wynn is

11 not entitled to summary judgment based on the business

12 judgment rule because of the Schoen decision.  First the Court

13 has to look at our pretext claim before considering the breach

14 of fiduciary duty claims under the business judgment rule.

15 And I'll rest on that, Your Honor.  I think that,

16 again, the briefs are pretty clear on all this, and I don't

17 want to belabor the Court's time.

18 THE COURT:  What's the last day of fact discovery?

19 MR. KRAKOFF:  November the 3rd, Your Honor.

20 THE COURT:  Okay.  Thank you.

21 Anything else, Mr. Bice?

22 MR. BICE:  Yes, Your Honor.  You heard a lot of

23 conclusions about all the discovery that they want to do, but

24 no explanation for how that could ever raise a genuine issue

25 of material fact after nearly six years, because it can't. 
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1 Mr. Krakoff says that they have a breach of contract claim and

2 so therefore that survives the business judgment rule.  That

3 was exactly the petition for rehearing that was denied by the

4 Supreme Court.  He doesn't address any of the cases through

5 pages 8 and 9 of our reply brief which specifically point out

6 that claims for breach of contract under articles of

7 incorporation or bylaws are precluded by the business judgment

8 rule, particularly where the articles or the bylaws provide

9 discretion to the board.

10 He claims that Mr. Freeh had a conflict.  He's

11 presented zero evidence that any of the directors -- let's

12 pretend that that was true.  He presented zero evidence that

13 any of the directors were aware of the supposed conflict or

14 that they had any reason to doubt the information that they

15 were being provided by the former FBI director.

16 He also then claims that, well, there's an issue of

17 fact about the valuation of the note.  Again his argument is

18 ignoring the business judgment rule, because that is a matter

19 left to the board's discretion under the articles, just as the

20 Nevada Supreme Court had ruled that the business judgment rule

21 does apply here.  But, nonetheless, as we point out in pages 8

22 and 9 of our reply brief, the caselaw makes it crystal clear

23 that under the articles of incorporation or bylaws the

24 business judgment rule applies to decisions made pursuant to

25 those things particularly where the board has been discretion.
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1 I would also note I'm glad to see that he's now

2 talking about how important the articles are and how they're

3 binding and how they're the constitution when his opposition

4 says that his clients' stock is the only stock out of a

5 hundred million-plus shares to which those articles don't

6 apply.  And I think that's the most telling aspect of this and

7 why summary judgment should be entered, Your Honor.

8 THE COURT:  Thank you.

9 I'm going to continue the hearing on the summary

10 judgment motion pursuant to Rule 56(f) until November 13th at

11 8:00 a.m.  If someone thinks there is something supplemental

12 that you want me to see, it must be filed by noon on

13 November 9th.

14 Okay.  That takes me to the motion to stay on the

15 Whennen notes.

16 MS. SPINELLI:  Your Honor, just very briefly.  You

17 invited us during the motion when you denied our motion for

18 protective order to file a motion to extend the stay once we

19 filed our writ petition.  We filed our writ petition, and

20 we're here asking for you to stay your order until the writ

21 petition has been decided by the Supreme Court.

22 THE COURT:  Two questions.

23 MS. SPINELLI:  Certainly.

24 THE COURT:  Has the Supreme Court requested a

25 response from anyone?

18
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1 MS. SPINELLI:  Not yet, Your Honor.

2 THE COURT:  And there was a mention in your brief

3 that an order was not issued.  I thought an order was issued.

4 MS. SPINELLI:  An order I believe was issued --

5 THE COURT:  Okay.

6 MS. SPINELLI:  -- on the Whennen notes.  But I'll

7 confirm for sure.  And if it isn't, we'll quickly supplement

8 the -- but I'm pretty sure it was, Your Honor.

9 THE COURT:  I thought I ruled on the two issues that

10 had been raised because there was slightly different

11 information between the two orders and I did something.

12 MS. SPINELLI:  We'll check and make sure, and if it

13 isn't, Your Honor, we'll make sure that we have those

14 submitted to you today.

15 THE COURT:  Anything else?

16 MS. SPINELLI:  No.

17 THE COURT:  Your motion's denied.  You can ask the

18 Supreme Court.

19 MS. SPINELLI:  Thank you, Your Honor.

20 THE COURT:  Anything else?  Have you guys worked out

21 your issues?  I know we have a motion tomorrow on the

22 discovery cutoff issues and other issues related to document

23 production.  Anything else that you want to talk about today

24 before I let you go five minutes early?

25 MR. FERRARIO:  I would have preferred to hear that
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1 motion today, but --

2 THE COURT:  I'm going to hear it tomorrow, because

3 I'm trying not to set OSTs on Mondays because you guys are

4 killing me with the briefs that come in over the weekend.

5 MR. KRAKOFF:  One question, Your Honor.  It won't

6 take 5 minutes.  About next Monday and Tuesday, we've got the

7 -- we're picking up the sanctions hearing again.

8 THE COURT:  That will be on October 16th and 17th.

9 MR. KRAKOFF:  Yes, Your Honor.  I wanted to just

10 check and see how much time the Court can give us for our

11 arguments.

12 THE COURT:  I am hopeful I will give you as much

13 time as you need.  How much time do you need?

14 MR. KRAKOFF:  Well, that's still a work in progress. 

15 I think you know what I mean.

16 THE COURT:  Yeah.  It's an important issue.

17 MR. KRAKOFF:  It is important.  There's a lot --

18 THE COURT:  And is Mr. Okada coming?

19 MR. PEEK:  Far as I know, Your Honor.  But I won't

20 know until --

21 THE COURT:  That is Agenda Item Number 1.  Okay.  So

22 I guess we may have other drama that ensues after that.

23 MR. PEEK:  Let's hope not, Your Honor.

24 MR. KRAKOFF:  Thank you, Your Honor.

25 MR. PISANELLI:  On the continued hearing for this
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094



1 summary judgment motion do you intend to rehear oral argument,

2 limited only to supplement [inaudible]?

3 THE COURT:  Only on supplemental information.  I

4 already have made my mind up, but I have been reverse before

5 for not granting 56(f) relief and had it sent back and told me

6 to reconsider after the discovery is done.  And I don't feel

7 like doing that here when I've only got a month left.

8 All the motions to redact in this day are granted. 

9 There was still a problem with Mr. Ferrario's and something

10 else.  For some reason you're filing motions to redact and the

11 motions or oppositions aren't actually getting filed, which is

12 causing consternation.  So I'll let you guys work that out

13 with Cassandra.  But all the ones on today are granted.  The

14 ones on Friday were problematic.

15 MR. BICE:  Do we need to refile the ones from

16 Friday, Your Honor?

17 THE COURT:  I'm going to let you and Cassandra work

18 -- your people and Cassandra work that out.

19 MR. BICE:  All right.  Okay.  We'll be in touch.

20 MR. FERRARIO:  How many things are on tomorrow?  Our

21 request --

22 THE COURT:  Two.

23 MR. FERRARIO:  Our request to extend the deadline

24 and what else?

25 THE COURT:  Another motion to stay.  The motion to
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1 stay the special master's review of the validation set in

2 Macau.

3 MR. FERRARIO:  Got it.  Thank you.

4 THE COURT:  Goodbye.

5 THE PROCEEDINGS CONCLUDED AT 8:28 A.M.

6 * * * * *
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CERTIFICATION

I CERTIFY THAT THE FOREGOING IS A CORRECT TRANSCRIPT FROM THE
AUDIO-VISUAL RECORDING OF THE PROCEEDINGS IN THE ABOVE-
ENTITLED MATTER.

AFFIRMATION

I AFFIRM THAT THIS TRANSCRIPT DOES NOT CONTAIN THE SOCIAL
SECURITY OR TAX IDENTIFICATION NUMBER OF ANY PERSON OR ENTITY.

FLORENCE HOYT
Las Vegas, Nevada 89146

                             
FLORENCE M. HOYT, TRANSCRIBER

 10/9/17
          
   DATE
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DISTRICT COURT

CLARK COUNTY,NEVADA

WYplN RESORTS,LINIIITED,a Ncvada Case No.: A-12-656710-B

Dept. No.: XI
Plainti範

VS.

KAZUO OKADA,an individual,ARUZE
USA,INC。 ,a Nevada corporation,and
UNIVERSAL ENTERTAINMENT
CORP.,a Japancse corporation,

Defendants. Hearing Date: October 9, Novembet 13,2017

Hearing Time: 8:00 a.m.

AND RELATED CLAINIS

FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

This matter came on for hearing on October 9,2017 and November 13, 2017, on

Plaintiff/Counterdefendant Wynn Resorts, Limited ("Wynn Resorts" or the "Company") and

Counterdefendants Linda Chen, Russell Goldsmith, Ray R. Irani, Robert J. Miller, John A.

Moran, Marc D. Schorr, Alvin V. Shoemaker, and D' Boone Wayson's

(the "Director Defendants" (collectively, with Wynn Resorts, the "Wynn Parties") Motion for

Summary Judgment on Stock Redemption (the "Motion") against Defendant Kazuo Okada

("Okada"), and Defendants/Counterclaimants Aruze USA, Inc. ("Aruze") and Universal

Entertainment Corp. ("Universal") (collectively, the "Okada Parties" or "Defendants"). Having

considered the Motion for Summary Judgment (filed on September 5, 2017), Defendants'

Opposition (served on September 22, 2017), the Wynn Parties' Reply (served on October 4,

2OI7), Defendants' Supplemental Brief in opposition (served on November 9, 2017), and the

Wyrur Parties' Supplemental Reply (served on November 12,2017), and having heard arguments

of counsel at both hearings, the Court makes the following findings of fact and conclusions of

law:

FINDINGS OF FACT AND
CONCLUS10NS OF LAW

Case Number: A-12-656710-B

Electronically Filed
11/30/2017 9:25 AM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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FINDINGS OF FACT

1. On February 19,2072, Wynn Resorts filed a complaint in the Eighth Judicial

District Court against Okada, Aruze, and Universal. Wynn Resorts filed its Second Amended

Complaint, its operative pleading, on April 22,2013, asserting three (3) causes of action.

2. On March 72,2012, the Okada Parties answered the Complaint, and Universal

and Aruze filed a counterclaim asserting claims against Wynn Resorts, the Director Defendants,

Stephen A. Wynn ("Mr. Wynn"), Elaine P. Wynn ("Ms. Wynn"), and Wynn Resorts' General

Counsel, Kimmarie Sinatra ("Ms. Sinatra"). Universal and Aruze filed their Fourth Amended

Counterclaim, their operative pleading, on Novemb er 26, 2013 , asserting I 9 causes of action.

3. The Wynn Parties'Motion for Summary Judgment sought judgment in their favor,

and against the Okada Parties, as to the following causes of action:

a. Wyrn Resorts' third cause of action for declaratory relief as to the

redemption;

b. Universal and Aruze's counterclaims Count I (declaratory relief asserted

against the Company, the Director Defendants, Mr. Wynn, and

Ms. Wynn);

c. Universal and Aruze's Count II (permanent prohibitory injunction asserted

against the Company, the Director Defendants, Mr. Wynn, and

Ms. Wynn);

d. Universal and Aruze's Count III (permanent mandatory injunction asserted

against the Company, the Director Defendants, Mr. Wyrr, and

Ms. Wynn);

e. Universal and Aruze's Count V (breach of Articles of Incorporation/breach

of contract in connection with Wynn Resorts' discounting method of

involuntary redemption asserted against the Company);

f. Universal and Aruze's Count VI (breach of fiduciary duty asserted against

the Director Defendants);

2
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g. Universal and Aruze's Count VII (imposition of a constructive trust and

unjust enrichment asserted against the Company);

h. Universal and Aruze's Count VIII (conversion asserted against the

Company);

i. Universal and Aruze's Count XVIII (tortious interference with contract

asserted against the Company and Director Defendants but not against

Mr. Wynn or Ms. Wynn); and

j. Universal and Aruze's Count IX (unconscionability/reformation of

promissory note asserted against the Company).

4. The Motion for Summary Judgment was first heard on October 9, 2011. The

Okada Parties' request for NRCP 56(f) discovery was granted. The Motion was then set for a

continued hearing on November 10, 2017, after the close of fact discovery (November 3, 2017),

and after the parties submitted supplemental briefs.

5. This case arises from actions by the Wynn Resorts Board of Directors

(the "Board") pursuant to the Company's Second Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation

(the "Articles") on February 18,2012.

6. Wynn Resorts operates in the highly-regulated field of gaming, and therefore

regulatory probity, including self-policing, is an area of concem for stockholders and their

investment. The stockholders thus empowered the Board to protect against regulatory risks that

arise from the activities of a stockholder through Article VII, which is entitled "Compliance with

Gaming Laws" and spans multiple pages of Wynn Resorts'Articles. (Art. VII.)

I . Pursuant to Article VII, if the Board determines that any particular stockholder or

the stockholder's affiliates are "unsuitable," the Board is authorized to remove that stockholder,

and the risk that the Board believes the stockholder's ownership poses, by redeeming his/herlits

shares.

8. In fuither acknowledgement of the conclusive authority of the Board, the

Company's publicly-issued shares, including those of Aruze, are emblazoned with notice that

''THE SHARES OF STOCK REPRESENTED BY THIS CERTIFICATE ARE SUBJECT TO A
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RIGHT OF REDEMPTION AND OTHER RESTRICTIONS PURSUANT TO THE

CORPORATION'S ARTICLES OF INCORPORATION . . . .''

9. Section 2 of Article VII provides, in relevant part:

Finding of Unsuitability. (a) The Securities Owned or Controlled by
an Unsuitable Person or an Affiliate of an Unsuitable Person shall be
subject to redemption by the Corporation, out of funds legally
available therefor, by action of the board of directors, to the extent
required by the Gaming Authority making the determination of
unsuitability or to the extent deemed necessary or advisable by the
bourdofdirectors....

(Emphasis added.)

10. Section 1(l) of Article VII defines an "IJnsuitable Person" as including anyone

who "iz the sole discretion of the board of directors of the Corporation, is deemed likely to

jeopardize the Coqporation's or any Affiliated Company's application for, receipt of approval for,

right to the use of, or entitlement to, any Gaming License." (Emphasis added.)t

1 l. Underscoring the importance that the Company and its stockholders placed on the

Board's suitability determinations, upon a finding of unsuitability, the unsuitable person's shares

shall be deemed immediately redeemed, and he/shelit are precluded from receiving any "dividend

or interest with regard" to the shares, exercising "directly or indirectly or through any proxy" any

rights associated with those shares, or receiving "any remuneration in any form."

(Art. VII, $ 2(b).)

12. Any stockholder who the Board deems unsuitable is further required to "indemnifu

and hold harmless" Wynn Resorts, including for any losses, costs or expenses associated with

their unsuitability. (Id. S 4.)

13. Wynn Resorts is entitled to injunctive relief as well as any other rights or remedies

relating to the unsuitability determination. (1d $$ 5 & 6.)

14. Article VII also sets forth the Board's authority to make the business judgment as

to the "Redemption Price" to be paid as well as the terms of that payment. (Art. VII $ 1(i).)

' Th" Articles of Incorporation define the term "Gaming Licenses" to include "all licenses,
permits, approvals, authorizations, registrations, f,rndings of suitability, franchises, concessions
and entitlements issued by a Gaming Authority necessary for or relating to the conduct of Gaming
Activities." (Art.VII $ 1(e).) 

4
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15. Under the Articles, unless a gaming regulator mandates a particular price, it is that

"amount determined by the board of directors to be the fair value of the Securities to be

redeemed." (Id.) (emphasis added).

16. The only limit on the Board's discretion is the Articles' express prohibition of

payment of any type of share premium, meaning that the Redemption Price cannot be above "the

closing sales price per share of shares on the principle national securities exchange on which such

shares are then listed . . , ." (Id.)

17. The Articles confirm the Board's discretion as to not only the Redemption Price,

but also when and how payment is made. Specifically, the Board may elect to pay the

Redemption Price "in cash, by promissory note, or both, as the board of directors determines."

(l d. (emphasis added).)

18. Pursuant to the Articles, if the Board elects a promissory note, that note "shall

contain such terms and conditions as the Board of Directors determines necessary or advisable,

including without limitation, subordination provisions, to comply with any law or regulation

applicable to the Corporation or any Affiliate of the Corporation, or to prevent a default under,

breach of, event of default under, or any acceleration of any loan, promissory note, mortgage,

indenture, line of credit, or other debt or financing agreement of the Corporation or any Affiliate

of the Corporation." (ld.)

19. The Articles also provide that, should the Board in its discretion choose a

promissory note as the payment mechanism, "the principal amount of the promissory note

together with any unpaid interest shall be due and payable no later than the tenth anniversary of

delivery of the note and interest on the unpaid principal thereof shall be payable annually in

arrears at the rate of two percent (2%) per annum. " (1d. )

20. Article VII, Section 7 expressly notes that the "Board of Directors shall have the

exclusive authority and power to administer this Article VII and to exercise all rights and powers

specifically granted to the Board of Directors or the Corporation as may be necessary or advisable

in the administration of this Article VII." (Ex. I at Art. VII.) It fuither provides that all actions
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taken pursuant to Article VII "which are done or made by the board of directors in good faith

shall be final, conclusive and binding, on the Corporation and all other persons." (/d )

21. Aruze, one of the companies Okada (through Universal) formerly controlled, was

a substantial stockholder in Wynn Resorts.

22. Okada served as a member of the Wynn Resorts Board of Directors from 2002

until2013.

23. While on the Board, Okada had encouraged Wynn Resorts to explore gaming

opportunities in the Philippines, overtures the Company declined based on concerns over the

Philippines' regulatory climate. Such concems did not dissuade Okada and his affiliates from

pursuing a gaming project in the Philippines, separate and apart from Wynn Resorts.

24. At a Wynn Resorts' Board meeting held on November l, 2011, former Nevada

Governor Robert J. Miller - the Chairman of Wynn Resorts' Compliance Committee - discussed

the results of two investigations into Okada's activities in the Philippines, stemming from

concerns about the regulatory environment in the Philippines, and the risk that Okada's actions

there could create compliance-related risks for Wynn Resorts.

25. Governor Miller reported to the Wynn Resorts Board that the existing evidence

raised questions about the conduct of Okada and his companies, and advised that the Compliance

Committee intended to retain former federal judge and former Director of the Federal Bureau of

Investigation Louis Freeh ("Judge Freeh") of Freeh Sporkin & Sullivan, LLP, to further

investigate.

26. The Wynn Resorts Board ratified the Compliance Committee's retention of

Judge Freeh.

27. After Okada made himself available for an interview, something that he had

resisted, Judge Freeh presented his findings at a February 18, 2012 special meeting of the

Wynn Resorts Board, along with a 47-page report (the "Freeh Report").

28. At the February 18,2012 Board meeting, Judge Freeh described the scope of his

investigation, reported on impressions of the personal interview of Okada, and responded to the

Board's questions.
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29. As reflected in the Freeh Report, Judge Freeh advised the Board about the

existence of illicit and improper payments by the Okada Parties.

30. The Board also obtained input from two highly experienced gaming attorneys,

Jeffrey Silver and David Arrajj, concerning regulatory problems associated with the conduct of

Okada and his agents. Mr. Arrajj, long-time counsel to the Company on gaming issues, provided

counsel on gaming laws and obligations, and Mr. Silver, then of the law firm Gordon Silver, and,

among other things, a former member of the Nevada Gaming Control Board, was "retained by the

Company at the request of the independent directors" to provide counsel on similar issues.

31. Following this input, the Board (excluding Okada) unanimously exercised their

business judgment, and years of business experience, in determining that the Okada Parties were

"Unsuitable Persons" (as dehned in the Articles) whose continued equity ownership was "likely

to jeopardize" the Company's existing and potential future gaming licenses.

32. Thus, the Board exercised its authority to immediately redeem all Wynn Resorts'

shares held directly or indirectly by the Okada Parties.

33. Having made the decision to redeem, the Board proceeded to determine the

"Redemption Price," which Anicle VII specifies is "that amount determined by the Board of

Directors to be the fair value of the securities to be redeemed." (Art. VII, $ 1(i).)

34. In making that determination, the Board obtained input from an outside financial

advisor, Moelis & Company ("Moelis"), who presented the Board with a report analyzing a fair

valuation range for the redeemed shares.

35. In advising the Board about its valuation determination, Moelis considered the

liquidity/transfer restrictions on the shares in a related stockholders agreement, as well as the

overall size of the share block being redeemed.

36. As fuither provided by Article VII, Section 70), the Board also considered

information from the Company's then-chief financial officer as well as outside advisor Duff &

Phelps, LLC as to the Company's overall financial condition and the preferable means of

payment.

7
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37. The Wynn Resorts Board also factored its duties to the Company's remaining

stockholders in determining the most appropriate payment method.

38. Ultimately, the Board determined to redeem all of the Okada Parties' shares for

$1,936,442,631.36, which reflected a blended 30% discount off the then-existing public trading

price as recommended by the advisors, considering the lack of transferability for these shares and

the block size.

39. The Board determined to pay the Redemption Price in the form of a ten-year

promissory note bearing the Articles-established2%o per annum rate of interest, as provided in the

Articles.

40. If any findings of fact are properly conclusions of law, they shall be treated as if

appropriately identified and designated.

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

1. Under NRCP 56(c), summary judgment must be granted when there is no genuine

issue of material fact and the movant is entitled to judgment under the law.

2. A genuine issue of material fact can only exist where the evidence - in light of the

applicable legal standard - would permit a finder of fact to return a verdict in favor of the

non-moving party.

3. Under the Business Judgment Rule, "[d]irectors and officers, in deciding upon

matters of business, are presumed to act in good faith, on an informed basis and with a view to

the interests of the corporation." NRS 78.138(3).

4. In making such decisions, the Legislature provides that "directors and officers are

entitled to rely on information, opinions, reports, books of account or statements, including

financial statements and other financial data" prepared by the Company's directors, officers or

employees as well as by outside consultants like legal counsel, accounts, f,rnancial advisors "or

other persons as to matters reasonably believed to be within the preparer's or presenter's

professional or expert competence." NRS 75.135(2).

105



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

1l

t2

13

I4

15

t6

l7

18

t9

20

2l

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

5. The law recognizes that corporate directors - those who the shareholders have

chosen to make decisions - have expertise in the management of their business affairs and that

courts are ill-equipped to evaluate the wisdom of whether a particular decision is best,

6. The Business Judgment Rule establishes a legislative policy of judicial

noninterference with the judgment of the Board. Wynn Resorts, Limited v. Eighth Judicial

District Court,399 P.3d 334,342 (I.{ev. 2017). As the Supreme Court observed, it prevents a

trial court from "replacing a well-meaning decision by a corporate board with its own decision."

rd.

7. The Nevada Supreme Court stated that "the Board can establish that it meets [the

Business Judgment Rule] presumption by relying on 'reports' and '[c]ounsel,' as long as the Board

did not have 'knowledge concerning the matter in question that would cause reliance thereon to be

unwarrante d." Wynn Res orts, 399 P.3d at 344 (quoting NRS 78. 1 38(2)-(3).)

8. The Business Judgement Rule's presumption can be rebutted by "showing either

that the decision was a product of fraud or self-interest or that the directors failed to exercise due

care in reaching the decision."

9. The Supreme Court provides that the Rule's application precludes any inquiry or

challenge into the "substantive reasonableness" of the Board's decisions.

10. Specifically, under the plain language of NRS 78.138, the Supreme Court

concluded that the Nevada Legislature intended to preclude courts from reviewing the

"substantive reasonableness" of directors'business decisions. Wynn Resorts,399 P.3d at343.

1 1. Thus, the party seeking to challenge the Rule's presumption may not do so by

exploring the underlying merits or reasonableness of the decision itself. Rather, as the

Supreme Court explained, the presumption that a director acted in good faith must be overcome

with a focus on "procedural" factors:

fl]nquiry into the identity and qualifications of any sources of
information or advice sought which bear on the decision reached,
the circumstances surrounding selection of these sources, the general
topics (bul not the substance) of the information sought or imparted,
whether the advice was actually given, whether it was followed, and
if not, what sources of information and advice were consulted to
reach the decision in issue.
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Wynn Resorts,399 P.3d at 343(citing WLR Foods,857 F. Supp. at 494).

12. The Okada Parties presented no evidence to create a material issue of fact that the

Board did not follow an informed decision-making process.

13. The evidence shows the identity and qualifications of the individuals who

provided advice and counsel to the Board leading up to and during the Board meeting, the

circumstances surrounding their selection, the general topics of their advice, and whether advice

was given and followed. This included (1) Judge Freeh, (2) gaming attorneys David Arrajj, Esq.,

and (3) Jeff Silver, Esq., (4) third party Moelis & Company, and (5) third party Duff & Phelps.

14. The undisputed evidence established that the Wynn Resorts Board received

counsel and legal advice from a number of different, and highly qualified professionals.

15. The Okada Parties did not present any evidence related to the "procedural indicia"

factors adopted by the Supreme Court, and thus, failed to offer any evidence "material to the

question of whether the board acted with due care." Wynn Resorts,399 P.3d at 345 (citations

omitted).

16. With regard to self-interest, the law recognizes that a director is only

self-interested where his/her actions would bestow a "personal financial benefit" upon himlher as

distinguished from benefits that the corporation receives or that ordinarily flow from stock

ownership.

17 . The fact that a board takes action to protect the interest of the corporation and the

shareholders - actions that may well increase the stock value - is, by definition, not self-interest.

Those are the types of actions the Board is supposed to take for the benefit of the Company and

all stockholders.

18. A plaintiff challenging the board's independence must have "facts that show that

the majority is 'beholden to' directors who would be liable or for other reasons is unable to

consider a demand on its merits." In re AMERCO Derivative Litig., 127 Nev. 196,218,252 P.3d

697, 698 (201 l).

19. Under that standard, a party must present "facts that show that the majority [of

directors] is 'beholden to' directors who . . . [are] unable to consider a demand on its merits."

10
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20. The Okada Parties failed to present any evidence that a genuine issue of material

fact on the issue of independence existed as to any of the Director Defendants.

21. NRS 78.138(7) provides protection for individual or personal liability of board

members who are acting in independence and exercise their powers in good faith and with a view

of the interests of the corporation.

22. NRS 78.138(7) does not apply to the Company itself or to claims asserted against

the Company. It is a limitation on personal liability for board members.

23. The Okada Parties have failed to meet their burden to demonstrate a genuine issue

of material fact that would rebut the presumption of the Business Judgment Rule as to the

Director Defendants: Mr. Goldsmith, Mr. Moran,Mr. Zeman" Mr. Shoemaker, Governor Miller,

Mr. Schorr, Ms. Chen, Mr. Wayson, and Dr. Irani. Accordingly, NRS 78.138(7) protects them

from individual liability for their decisions related to the redemption.

24. Crossdefendants Mr. Wynn and Ms. Wynn are parties to the Stockholders

Agreement with Aruze and, because of the impact of the redemption decision on their ability to

trade the shares under the Stockholders Agreement, the Court concludes that there is a genuine

issue of material fact as to whether they were interested parties.

25. If any Conclusions of Law are properly Findings of Fact, they shall be treated as

though appropriately identifi ed and designated.

ORDER

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED, ADJUDGED AND DECREED that judgment is entered

in favor of the Director Defendants (only) and against the Okada Parties with respect to the

following causes of action:

1. Wynn Resorts' third cause of action for declaratory relief as to the redemption:

2. Universal and Aruze's counterclaims Count I (declaratory relief);

3. Universal and Aruze's Count II (permanent prohibitory injunction);

4. Universal and Aruze's Count III (permanent mandatory injunction);

5. Universal and Aruze's Count VI (breach of fiduciary duty) (in its entirety as it was

only asserted against the Director Defendants); and
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6. Universal and Aruze's Count XVIII (tortious interference with contract).

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED, ADJUDGED AND DECRBED that the Wynn Parties'

Motion seeking summary judgment on the above-stated claims in favor of Mr. Wynn or

Ms. Wynn and against the Okada Parties is DENIED because a genuine issue of material fact

exists as to whether they are interested parties.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED, ADJUDGED AND DECREED that The Wynn Parties'

Motion seeking summary judgment in favor of the Company and against the Okada Parties is

DENIED because the Business Judgment Rule does not apply to the Company itself.

IT IS SO ORDERED on this 30th day of November 2017.

I hereby certify that, on or about the date fi
& Serve to the parties identified on the e-service li

う
乙

District Court Judge

, this Order was served through Odyssey File

Dan Kutinac
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